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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT JACKSON COUNTY 
STATE OF MISSOURI 

 
STATE OF MISSOURI, ex rel.  ) 
Attorney General ERIC S. SCHMITT, ) 
      ) 
  Petitioner,   ) 
      ) 
 v.     )    
      ) 
COUNTRY CLUB HOMES,  ) 
Serve: Sharon McNulty   ) 
5847 Pennsylvania Avenue  ) Case No. 
Kansas City, MO 64110,   ) 
      ) 
and      ) 
      ) 
CRESTWOOD CLUB HOMES   ) 
ASSOCIATION,    ) 
Serve: Alex Wendel   ) 
5521 Crestwood Drive   ) 
Kansas City, MO  64110,   ) 
      ) 
  Respondents.  ) 
 

PETITION FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
 

Petitioner, State of Missouri, at the relation of Attorney General Eric S. 

Schmitt, brings this Petition and upon information and belief states as follows:  

Nature of the Action 

1. Racial covenants have no  place in Missouri.  

2. Missouri law requires homeowners’ associations to remove racially 

restrictive covenants within thirty days of receiving writing notice.  

3. Missouri Attorney General Eric Schmitt notified Respondents of racially 

restrictive provisions in their covenants more than 30 days before filing this action. 
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4. On information and belief, Respondents have not removed the racially 

restrictive provisions.  

5. The Attorney General seeks immediate declaratory and injunctive relief 

to remove racially restrictive covenants.   

Parties 

6. Eric S. Schmitt is the Attorney General of the State of Missouri and 

brings this action in his official capacity pursuant to Chapter 27, RSMo. Section 

27.060, RSMo, provides that the “attorney general shall institute, in the name and 

on behalf of the state, all civil suits and other proceedings at law or equity requisite 

or necessary to protect the rights and interests of the state, and enforce any and all 

rights, interests or claims against any and all persons, firms or corporations in 

whatever court or jurisdiction such action may be necessary.”  

7. As the Supreme Court of Missouri has explained, “The attorney general 

has the authority ‘to seek enforcement of the legislature’s statutory purpose.’” State 

ex rel. Hawley v. Pilot Travel Centers, LLC, 558 S.W.3d 22, 30 (Mo. banc 2018), 

quoting Fogle v. State, 295 S.W.3d 504, 510 (Mo. App. W.D. 2009). 

8. The “Attorney General, both because of his statutory and common law 

powers, is a proper party to bring an action for the state … which would prevent 

injury to the general welfare.”  State ex. rel. Taylor v. Wade, 231 S.W.2d 179, 182 (Mo. 

banc 1950).  

9. “If there were no other remedy for a great wrong, and public justice and 

individual rights were likely to suffer for want of a prosecutor capable of pursuing the 
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wrongdoer and redressing the wrong, the courts would … find authority for the 

attorney general to intervene in the name of the people.”  State ex rel. Nixon v. Am. 

Tobacco Co., 34 S.W.3d 122, 135 (Mo. banc 2000), quoting State ex. rel. McKittrick v. 

Missouri Public Service Comm’n, 175 S.W.2d 857, 864–65 (Mo banc 1943). 

10. Country Club Homes Association is a benevolent corporation registered 

to do business in the State of Missouri located in Kansas City, Missouri.  

11. Crestwood Homes Association is a benevolent corporation registered to 

do business in the State of Missouri located in Kansas City, Missouri. 

Jurisdiction and Venue 

12. This Court has subject matter and personal jurisdiction over this action 

under Art. V, § 14 of the Missouri Constitution and § 506.500, RSMo. 

13. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to § 508.010, RSMo.  

14. This court may grant declaratory relief pursuant to § 527.010, RSMo, 

and injunctive relief pursuant to § 526.010, RSMo. 

Missouri law prohibits maintaining racially restrictive covenants 

15. In 1948, the Supreme Court of the United States held that racially 

restrictive covenants are unconstitutional and not enforceable. Shelley v. Kramer, 334 

U.S. 1 (1948).  

16. The Fair Housing Act of 1968 prohibits the discrimination of sale, rental, 

and financing of dwellings and other housing-related transactions based on race, 

color, national origin, religion, or sex. 42 U.S.C. §§ 3601-19. 
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17. Missouri law prohibits the discrimination in the sale or rental of 

housing. § 213.040, RSMo.  

18. In 2005, Missouri enacted a law that reiterated the prohibition on 

restrictive covenants. § 213.041, RSMo. 

19. Under § 213.041, “the board of directors of a homeowners’ associations 

shall amend, without approval of the owners, any declaration or other governing 

document that includes a restrictive covenant.”  § 213.041, RSMo.  

20. Under §213.041.3, any person may provide written notice to a 

homeowners’ association requesting that the association delete a restrictive covenant 

in violation of § 213.040.  

21. If the association fails to delete the restrictive covenant within 30 days 

of notice, any person may bring an action against the homeowners’ association for 

injunctive relief.  § 213.041.3, RSMo. 

Homeowners’ Associations Maintain Unlawful  
Racially Restrictive Covenants 

 
22. On June 22, 2020, Attorney General Eric Schmitt provided written 

notice to Country Club Homes Association, courtesy of Sharon McNulty, of racially 

restrictive provisions in its covenants. See Ex. 1 and 2, which are incorporated herein 

by reference.  

23. Country Club Homes Association Plats 5-6 maintains a racially 

restrictive provision in its covenant that reads, “None of said lots during aforesaid 

period shall be conveyed to, owned, used nor occupied by negroes as owners or 

tenants.” See Ex. 3, which is incorporated herein by reference.  
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24. The covenant of Country Club Homes Association Plats 1-2, 3-4, and 7-

8 contains a provision that is whited out, typed over, or accompanied by a statement 

that the covenants are presented “as a historical reference only” and the 

“requirements have expired.” On information and belief, these informal markings 

relate to a racially restrictive provision that has not been repealed in compliance with 

§ 213.041, RSMo. See Ex. 4, which is incorporated herein by reference.  

25. Attorney General Schmitt asked Country Club Homes Association to 

properly repeal the racially restrictive provisions within 30 days. See Ex. 1 and 2. 

26. Country Club Homes Association has not responded to Attorney General 

Schmitt’s request. 

27. More than 30 days have passed since Country Club Homes Association 

received written notice of the racially restrictive covenants from Attorney General 

Schmitt. 

28. On June 22, 2020, Attorney General Eric Schmitt sent notice to 

Crestwood Homes Association, courtesy of Alex Wendel, of a racially restrictive 

provision in its covenants. See Ex. 5, which is incorporated herein by reference.  

29. Crestwood Homes Association maintains a racially restrictive provision 

in its covenant that reads, “None of said lots shall be conveyed to, used, owned nor 

occupied by negroes as owners or tenants.” See Ex. 6, which is incorporated herein by 

reference.   

30. The covenant of Crestwood Homes Association Plats 1-3 and 4-6 

contains a provision that is accompanied by a statement that the covenants are 



6 
 

presented “as a historical reference only” and the “requirements have expired.” On 

information and belief, these informal markings relate to a racially restrictive 

provision that has not been repealed in compliance with § 213.041, RSMo. See Ex. 6, 

which is incorporated herein by reference.  

31. Attorney General Schmitt asked Crestwood Homes Association to 

properly repeal the racially restrictive provisions within 30 days. See Ex. 5. 

32. Crestwood Homes Association has not responded to Attorney General 

Schmitt’s request. 

33. More than 30 days have passed since Crestwood Homes Association 

received written notice of the racially restrictive covenants from Attorney General 

Schmitt. 

Count I – Request for Declaratory Judgment 

34. Petitioner incorporates all of the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 

through 33 above.  

35. On information and belief, Country Club Homes Association has 

maintained and continues to maintain a racially restrictive covenant in violation of 

§ 213.041.  

36. On information and belief, Country Club Homes Association has failed 

to delete all racially restrictive covenants after receiving written notice from Attorney 

General Schmitt. On information and belief, Crestwood Homes Association has 

maintained and continues to maintain a racially restrictive covenant in violation of 

§ 213.041. 
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37. On information and belief, Crestwood Homes Association has failed to 

delete all racially restrictive covenants after receiving written notice from Attorney 

General Schmitt. Accordingly, Petitioner is entitled to an order pursuant to § 213.041 

declaring Country Club Homes Association and Crestwood Homes Association in 

violation of § 213.041 because the associations maintain covenants with racially 

restrictive provisions that have not been deleted in accordance with § 213.041.  

WHEREFORE, Petitioner State of Missouri ex rel. Attorney General Eric S. 

Schmitt prays this Court for an Order declaring Country Club Homes Association 

and Crestwood Homes Association have violated and are continuing to violate 

§ 213.041, RSMo.  The Attorney General further requests an award of the costs and 

reasonable attorneys’ fees incurred to bring this action, as allowed under § 213.041, 

plus such additional relief as this court deems just and proper under these 

circumstances.   

Count II – Request for Injunctive Relief 

38. Petitioner incorporates all of the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 

through 37 above. 

39. On information and belief, Country Club Homes Association has 

maintained and continues to maintain a racially restrictive covenant in violation of 

§ 213.041.  

40. On information and belief, Country Club Homes Association has failed 

to delete all racially restrictive covenants after receiving notice from Attorney 

General Schmitt.  
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41. On information and belief, Crestwood Homes Association has 

maintained and continues to maintain a racially restrictive covenant in violation of 

§ 213.041. 

42. On information and belief, Crestwood Homes Association has failed to 

delete all racially restrictive covenants after receiving notice from Attorney General 

Schmitt.  

43. Racially restrictive covenants cannot be enforced by Country Club 

Homes Association or Crestwood Homes Association because they violate state and 

federal law. 

44. Accordingly, Petitioner is entitled to injunctive relief pursuant to 

§ 213.041 to enforce the provisions of § 213.041 against Country Club Homes 

Association and Crestwood Homes Association of § 213.041. 

WHEREFORE, Petitioner State of Missouri ex rel. Attorney General Eric S. 

Schmitt prays this Court for a preliminary and permanent injunction prohibiting the 

Country Club Homes Association and Crestwood Homes Association from continued 

violations of § 213.041, RSMo.  The Attorney General further requests an award of 

the costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees incurred to bring this action, as allowed 

under § 213.041, plus such additional relief as this court deems just and proper under 

these circumstances.   

Respectfully submitted, 

ERIC S. SCHMITT 
Attorney General 
 
/s/ Sarah E. Jones   
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Sarah E. Jones, Mo Bar No. 71957 
   Assistant Attorney General for Special  
   Litigation 
Justin D. Smith, Mo Bar No. 63253 
   Deputy Attorney General for Special  
   Litigation 
Missouri Attorney General’s Office 
Post Office Box 899 
Jefferson City, Missouri 65102 
(573) 751-8366 (Telephone) 
(573) 751-0774 (Facsimile) 
Sarah.Jones@ago.mo.gov  
Justin.Smith@ago.mo.gov 

 
Attorneys for the Petitioner 
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